## S248702

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CHARLES E. WARD, ET AL., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

٧.

UNITED AIRLINES, INC., Defendant and Respondent.

**SUPREME COURT** FILED

SEP 1 1 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT, CASE NO. 16-16415 MAGISTRATE JUDGE WILLIAM ALSUP, CASE NO. 3:15-CV-02309-WHA



### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

JACKSON HANSON, LLP Jeffrey C. Jackson, SBN 140990 Kirk D. Hanson, SBN 167920 2790 Truxton Road, Suite 140 San Diego, California 92106 Telephone: (619) 523-9001

Email: jeff@JacksonHanson.com

hansonlaw@cox.net

#### ISSUES CERTIFIED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does California Labor Code section 226 apply to wage statements provided by an out-of-state employer to an employee who resides in California, receives pay in California, and pays California income tax on her wages, but who does not work principally in California or any other state?
- 2. The Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order 9 exempts from its wage statement requirements an employee who has entered into a collective bargaining agreement (CBA) in accordance with the Railway Labor Act (RLA). (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11090(1)(E).) Does the RLA exemption in Wage Order 9 bar a wage statement claim brought under California Labor Code section 226 by an employee who is covered by a CBA?

#### INTRODUCTION

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals certified the above two questions to this Court for resolution based upon its conclusion that there is no controlling California precedent and that their resolution would determine the outcome of the summary judgment orders which are the subject of this appeal as well as the fact that their resolution "matter greatly to many California residents who work only episodically in California and to the many employers who regularly send California residents to work outside of the state." (*Ward v. United Airlines, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2018) 889 F.3d 1068, 1072.)

In these two class actions, Plaintiffs are airline pilots and flight attendants who work for Defendant United Airlines. Plaintiffs are all based in California, receive their paychecks and wage statements in California, and pay California income taxes on those wages. Plaintiffs allege that United violated California Labor Code section 226 which governs the information that employers such as United must include on employee pay documents and which provides a penalty for its violation. The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. The district courts granted United's motions and dismissed this action on two grounds, neither of which justifies its ruling.

First, the district courts concluded that the application of section 226 to Plaintiffs' claims would be extraterritorial in nature (i.e. it would apply to claims arising from conduct occurring outside of California). In so ruling, the courts erred.

The application of section 226, which governs the composition of pay documents in California to claims arising from paychecks issued in

California to employees headquartered there, is not extraterritorial. In ruling to the contrary, the courts below concluded that the application of that section to Plaintiffs' claims would be extraterritorial based on the "job situs" test that focuses on the percentage of where the plaintiff performed his or her work.

Even in the context of wage claims, a purely percentage based test is improper. As explained by the Court *Bernstein v. Virgin America, Inc.* (N.D. Cal., Jan. 5, 2017, No. 15-CV-02277-JST) 2017 WL 57307, even in wage and hour cases the application of state statutes to employees who work in a variety of states, such as airline employees, may not be extraterritorial under the appropriate multifaceted test.

It is decidedly not the case that a claim purely under section 226 which is brought based on pay documents issued in California to California plaintiffs has any extraterritorial effect regardless of what percentage of the plaintiff's work is performed outside of California. The first basis for the district courts' summary judgment rulings therefore fail.

The courts below also ruled that the application of section 226 to Plaintiffs' claims would violate the dormant Commerce Clause because these Plaintiffs performed work both in California and elsewhere. This aspect of the courts' rulings was also wrong and it is not entirely clear whether this question is embraced in the first issue certified for review by this Court. In the event it is, plaintiffs will explain that once again, the district courts failed to appreciate that all of the conduct being regulated by the application of section 226 to these actions would be California conduct. In order to succeed on its dormant Commerce Clause argument, it was necessary for United to establish that the application of section 226 would be a "clearly excessive burden." Here, the application of section 226

imposes no additional burden on United than it does on any other California employers who happen to do business in multiple states. It simply has to comply with the very clear terms of that section with respect to paychecks it issues in this state. The second ground for the district courts' summary judgment rulings therefore also fail.

Finally, as further explained, the wage statement exemptions found in Wage Order 9 (8 C.C.R. § 11090) for employers who employ persons under a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") do not apply here because Wage Order 9 contains wage statement requirements that are not at issue in these cases, and thus, any exemptions from these requirements for CBA employers do not affect Plaintiffs' claims under Section 226 and because Labor Code § 226 contains no applicable deference to the Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC"), as other sections of the Labor Code do. Accordingly, Wage Order 9 simply does not preclude Plaintiffs' claims.

## COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE AS TO WARD AND VIDRIO

A. Plaintiff Charles Ward Brings This Claim Against United
Airlines For Its Failure To Provide Information On Its
Wage Statements Required By California Law.

United Airlines, Inc. ("United") pays its pilots various hourly rates. Ward-3 ER 339. A pilot's hourly rate varies by the pilot's different pay activities. Ward-3 ER 339. For example, a pilot receives a regular hourly rate, 200% of the regular rate of pay for Senior Manning pay, 150% of the regular rate of pay for Volunteer Day Off pay, and 150% of the regular rate of pay for "deadhead middle seat" pay. Ward-3 ER 339. There is also vacation pay, training pay, and reassignment pay. Ward-3 ER 339. Pilots receive two or more wage statements per month. Ward-3 ER 338.

Plaintiff Charles Ward is a United pilot. Ward-3 ER 336. In 2014, Ward received a paycheck that he believed underpaid him several thousand dollars. Ward-3 ER 336. Ward could not determine the exact amount missing from his paycheck, however, because the pay statement did not provide the hours Ward worked at each different hourly rate nor did it list the different hourly rates. Ward-3 ER 337.

Ward brought this claim in the Superior Court of the City and County of San Francisco on behalf of himself and the other United pilots

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Senior Manning" pay is when a pilot with a set monthly schedule agrees to work on his or her day off and "deadhead middle seat" pay is when a pilot travels in a middle seat as a passenger to a location to work. Ward-3 ER 339-40.

living in California. Ward-4 ER 633. The Complaint alleged United violated California Labor Code § 226. Ward-4 ER 633-40. Section 226 requires each statement of wages to include the name and address of the legal entity that is the employer and all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee. Ward alleged United failed to comply with these requirements. Ward-4 ER 634. Ward alleged the section 226 claim as two causes of action, one as a Private Attorney General Act cause of action and another as a class action. Ward-4 ER 633. United removed the action to the United States District Court for the Northern District of California. Ward-4 ER 611-16.

B. The District Court Grants United's Motion For Summary
Judgment In Ward, Concluding California Law Does Not
Apply Because The Ward Class Members Performed
Work Primarily Outside California.

Both parties moved for summary judgment. Plaintiffs moved for summary judgment on the ground that California Labor Code § 226 mandates wage statements issued to California employees list the address of the legal entity that is the employer and list all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate. Ward-4 ER 541. As it was undisputed United failed to list its physical address or the applicable hourly rates and number of hours worked at each rate on the wage statements, Plaintiffs reasoned they were entitled to summary judgment. Ward-4 ER 541. United opposed the

motion and Plaintiffs replied to the opposition. Ward-3 ER 232; Ward-2 ER 213.

United moved for summary judgment, first arguing that California law does not apply because the class members spent the majority of their time working outside California; therefore, applying the California law would violate the presumption against the extraterritorial application of California law. Ward-2 ER 130-37. United also argued that applying California law would violate the dormant Commerce Clause, contending that requiring United comply with California law "would impose a burden on interstate commerce that is incommensurate with California's interest in ensuring that its own citizens are adequately informed of their compensation received." Ward-2 ER 138. As additional grounds for its motion, United argued it is entitled to summary judgment because the claims are preempted by the Airline Deregulation Act and by the Railway Labor Act. Ward-2 ER 142-47. As a final ground for its motion, United contended it complied with California Labor Code § 226 because United's wage statements include a Post Office Box and because United provided its pilots access to pay registers which contain the required information. Ward-2 ER 148.

Plaintiffs opposed the motion. Plaintiffs explained that California law does apply because they are not alleging a wage claim so the locations of where Plaintiffs earned their wages is irrelevant; instead, Plaintiffs' claim involves the physical wage statements United provides to its pilots in California. Ward-2 ER 106. As the pilots reside in California, are paid their wages in California, receive their wage statements in California, and suffered their injuries in California, the principle of extraterritoriality does not apply and California law governs. Ward-2 ER 106. Plaintiffs then

noted the district court reached this very same conclusion in granting the motion for class certification: "Ward's claims do not arise from the work he or members of the putative class performed outside California. Rather, they arise from the wage statements that United furnished to its pilots who resided in California." Ward-2 ER 108; Ward-4 ER 588.

Plaintiffs then explained the dormant Commerce Clause does not bar Plaintiffs' claim because United cannot meet its burden of showing that compliance with section 226 will cause a clearly excessive burden on interstate commerce in relation to the local benefits to employees, as is required for the clause to apply. Ward-2 ER 109.

Next, Plaintiffs responded to United's preemption claims, citing case law holding that the Airline Deregulation Act does not preempt section 226 claims, and explaining that Plaintiffs' claims are not preempted by the Railway Labor Act because consultation with the Collective Bargaining Agreement is unnecessary. Ward-2 ER 113-15.

Last, in response to United's argument that it complied with section 226, Plaintiffs incorporated their argument from their motion for summary judgment as to why United violated section 226 as a matter of law. Ward-2 ER 115-16; Ward-4 ER 541.

United replied to Plaintiffs' opposition. Ward-2 ER 79. The district court heard the cross-motions for summary judgment and took the matters under submission. Ward-2 ER 78. The court denied Plaintiffs' motion and granted United's motion. Ward-1 ER 1. The court concluded that the proper analysis for determining whether California law applies looks to where the class members earned their wages, rather than where the class members received their wage statements. Ward-1 ER 7. The court reached this conclusion by reasoning that section 226 was enacted to enable

employees to verify that they have received the protections of California's wage-and-hour laws. Ward-1 ER 7. Accordingly, the court ruled, section 226 "must be subject to the same jurisdictional limits as the wage-and-hour statutes and regulations to which it relates." Ward-1 ER 7. Therefore, the court concluded, section 226 does not apply to pilots who worked primarily outside of California. Ward-1 ER 8.

The district court additionally held that United is entitled to summary judgment due to the dormant Commerce Clause. Ward-1 ER 8-11. The district court concluded that the benefit section 226 provides to the United pilots is outweighed by the "administrative burden of complying with the patchwork of state wage-statement statutes and regulations" that would result. Ward-1 ER 9. The district court did not rule on United's additional arguments. The district court entered judgment in favor of United. Ward-2 ER 53.

Plaintiffs timely appealed. Ward-2 ER 12. The Ninth Circuit then certified two controlling issues of California law that have not yet been resolved by this Court of the California Courts of Appeal.

C. Plaintiff Felicia Vidrio Brings This Claim Against United
Airlines For Its Failure To Provide Information On Its
Wage Statements Required By California Law.

Plaintiff Felicia Vidrio is a flight attendant employed by United Airlines, Inc. ("United"). Vidrio-3 ER 431. Vidrio resides in Oceanside, California and is based out of Los Angeles International Airport. Vidrio-3 ER 431-32.

United's flight attendants are paid different hourly rates for different activities, such as "Regular Pay" for flying time; "Galley Pay" for cooking or warming food; "Lead Pay" or "Purser Pay" when the flight attendant is in charge of a particular flight; "Starlite Pay" or "Night Pay" for flying time between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.; "Holding Pay" when the flight is delayed; "Per Diem" pay for expense reimbursement; Understaffing Rate; International Pay; and Deadhead Pay (when flight attendant is a passenger on a flight traveling to an airport to work on a flight departing from that airport). Vidrio-3 ER 432-33.

United's flight attendants receive two wage statements per month. Vidrio-3 ER 432. These wage statements do not reflect the hours each flight attendant works at each rate, however. Vidrio-3 ER 433, 436-40.

As a result of her wage statement not including the different hourly rates of pay and United's address, Vidrio filed this action against United for violation of California Labor Code § 226 in the Los Angeles County Superior Court. Vidrio-3 ER 452. California Labor Code § 226 requires employers to provide its employees with an accurate written statement that lists, among other things, total hours worked by the employee, the address of the legal entity that is the employer, and all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee. United removed the case to the United States District Court for the Central District of California. Vidrio-3 ER 443.

Upon removal, Plaintiff moved for class certification. Vidrio-3 ER 481. The district court granted Plaintiff's motion, certifying the class as "[a]ll persons who were or are employed by United Airlines Inc. as flight attendants for whom United applied California income tax laws pursuant

to 49 U.S.C. 40116(f)(2) at any time from July 6, 2015 up to the present." Vidrio-3 ER 433.

D. The District Court Grants United's Motion For Summary Judgment As To Vidrio, Concluding California Law Does Not Apply Because The Vidrio Class Members Performed Work Primarily Outside California.

In *Vidrio*, both parties moved for summary judgment. United argued it was entitled to summary judgment because the presumption against extraterritoriality bars Plaintiffs claims, application of Section 226 would violate the dormant Commerce Clause, Section 226 is preempted by the Railway Labor Act and the Airline Deregulation Act, and it complied with Section 226's requirements. Vidrio-3 ER 390-92.

In regard to its extraterritoriality argument, United argued the governing law is determined by the location of the work performed, and not the employee's state of residence. Vidrio-3 ER 399-403. As such, according to United, because the class members do not work primarily in California, application of Section 226 would have an extraterritorial effect. Vidrio-3 ER 403-04.

Plaintiffs opposed the motion, explaining the presumption against extraterritoriality is not triggered because application of Section 226 here would not operate outside California. Vidrio-3 ER 286-92. Plaintiffs noted that compliance with Section 226 has no relation to where the class member performed his or her work, but rather is only determined by where the class member receives his or her wage statement (California) and what type of work the class member performs, which is location-neutral. Vidrio-3 ER

286-92. Accordingly, rather than applying a job situs test to determine whether application of the law would be extraterritorial, Plaintiffs explained the district court should instead apply a multi-factor approach recently taken in another case involving an airline. Vidrio-3 ER 289-92.

Plaintiffs supplied evidence as to the deep ties United has with California, employing over 17,000 employees at Los Angeles International Airport (LAX) and San Francisco International Airport (SFO) alone, servicing 17 airports in California (more than in any other state), operating 400 flights daily in California, serving an average of 5.6 million passengers annually at LAX and 10.6 million passengers annually at SFO, and investing \$573,000,000 in upgrades to its facilities at LAX. Vidrio-2 ER 243-46.

Plaintiffs also explained that application of Section 226 would not violate the dormant Commerce Clause because it would not create an undue burden on interstate commerce (Vidrio-3 ER 296-301); that Section 226 is not preempted by the Railway Labor Act because resolution of Plaintiffs' claims does not require interpretation of the collective bargaining agreement (Vidrio-3 ER 297-300); that Section 226 is not preempted by the Airline Deregulation Act because compliance with the statute will have no effect on prices, routes, and/or services (Vidrio-3 ER 300-01); and finally, mirroring their own motion for summary judgment, that United violated Section 226 because United did not comply with the statute's "address" requirement because including a P.O. Box is insufficient and because Plaintiffs' specific rates of pay and the number of hours worked at each specific rate clearly are not included on their wage statements (Vidrio-3 ER 301-06; *see also* Vidrio-2 ER 181 [Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment]).

After full briefing on both motions, the district court granted United's motion and denied Plaintiffs' motion. Vidrio-1 ER 1. The district court concluded that applying Section 226 to Plaintiffs' claims would violate the presumption against extraterritorial application of California law. Vidrio-1 ER 4-9. Relying on the recent decision in *Ward v. United Airlines, Inc.*, 2016 WL 3906077 (N.D. Cal. 2016), the district court applied the job situs test, which considers where the employee principally worked, and concluded that since Plaintiffs worked primarily outside of California, application of Section 226 to Plaintiffs' claims would violate the presumption against exterritoriality. Vidrio-1 ER 6.

The district court then concluded that the same result would be reached under the multi-factor approach because United is not based in California and only 18.34% of United's domestic flights operate out of California. Vidrio-1 ER 7. The court did not address United's other contentions. Vidrio-1 ER 7.

# E. The Ninth Circuit Certifies Two Questions To This Court For Resolution.

Following oral argument in the Ninth Circuit, the Court requested the parties to file supplemental briefing whether Wage Order 9's RLA exemption applies to employees who, like Ward and Vidrio, bring claims exclusively under § 226. The parties filed those supplemental briefs.

The Ninth Circuit then certified two questions for this Court's resolution. As to the issue concerning whether plaintiffs' claims under Labor Code section 226 were foreclosed under Wage Order 9, the Ninth Circuit explained:

California law requires us to "harmonize" § 226 and Wage Order 9. See *Brinker Rest. Corp. v. Superior Court*, 53 Cal.4th 1004, 139 Cal.Rptr.3d 315, 273 P.3d 513, 528 (2012). But it is not clear how to harmonize § 226 and Wage Order 9's RLA exemption.

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