# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FILED

NOV - 9 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

CHARLES E. WARD, ET AL., Appellants and Petitioners,

v.

UNITED AIRLINES, INC., Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER DECISION BY THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT, CASE NO. 16-16415
THE HONORABLE JUDGE WILLIAM ALSUP, CASE NO. 3:15-cv-02309-WHA

# DEFENDANT AND RESPONDENT UNITED AIRLINES, INC.'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

O'MELVENY & MYERS LLP
ROBERT SIEGEL (S.B. #64604)
RSIEGEL@OMM.COM
400 SOUTH HOPE STREET, 18TH FLOOR
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90071-2899
TELEPHONE: +1 213 430 6000
FACSIMILE: +1 213 430 6407

\*ADAM P. KOHSWEENEY (S.B. #229983)
AKOHSWEENEY@OMM.COM

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Appellants bring their Section 226 claims on behalf of classes of United pilots and flight attendants who are California residents but who indisputably spent less than 12 and 17.2 percent (respectively) of their time working in California during the class period. The district courts properly granted United's motions for summary judgment on the ground that Section 226 does not apply to the classes because class members do not work

principally in California (indeed, some do not work in California at all).

First, this Court should answer "no" to the first certified question because applying Section 226 to employees who work principally outside California would cause Section 226 to impermissibly operate outside California's borders. Employee job situs—that is, where a person works determines whether an employee can bring a claim under the California Labor Code without violating the presumption against extraterritoriality. Tidewater, 14 Cal. 4th at 578; Sarviss v. Gen. Dynamics Info. Tech., Inc., 663 F. Supp. 2d 883, 900 (C.D. Cal. 2009). Appellants do not dispute the relevance of these authorities or that nearly every court to have considered the extraterritorial application of California wage and hour law has used the job situs test. Rather, Appellants seek to distinguish this authority by pointing out that their claims involve wage statements, not wages. Op. Br. at 7-8, 31. Seizing on this artificial distinction, Appellants urge this Court to ignore the fact that the class members work primarily—and, in some cases, entirely—outside California and instead look to where the "conduct" giving rise to Appellants' claims allegedly occurred and the alleged state interests behind Section 226. Id. at 25-27. This position is flawed for several reasons. For one, there is no support in California or anywhere else for applying the job situs test to some provisions of the Labor Code and not others. Rather, as courts in California and other states consistently hold, the job situs test determines the applicability of the full range of a state's labor and employment laws, including wage statement laws, Ward v. United Airlines, No. C15-02309-WHA, 2016 WL 3906077 (N.D. Cal. July 19, 2016); overtime laws, Priyanto v. M/S Amsterdam, No. CV 07-3811AHM(JTLx), 2009 WL 175739 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 23, 2009); minimum wage laws, Hirst I, 2016 WL 2986978; and anti-discrimination laws, Peikin v. Kimmel & Silverman, P.C., 576 F. Supp. 2d 654 (D.N.J. 2008). The only California case to reject the job situs test, *Bernstein*, 227 F. Supp. 3d 1049,

reached its conclusion based on a fundamental misreading of California law and should be rejected by this Court.

Even under Appellants' proposed "conduct" test, however,
Appellants did not, and cannot, show that United issues its wage statements
in California or that the class members received their pay and wage
statements there. To the contrary, United issues wage statements from its
offices in Illinois and Texas, and pilots and flight attendants, who due to the
mobile nature of their work may have bank accounts in any state and who
may view their wage statements online at any time, do not necessarily
receive their wages and wage statements in California. Therefore, in
addition to the fact that the district court correctly applied the job situs test,
Appellants' alternative conduct-based approach is legally incorrect,
factually unsupported, and unsound as a matter of policy.

State interests and the purposes behind Section 226 are also irrelevant in determining whether the law is being applied extraterritorially. Appellants cite to the Ninth Circuit panel's certification request in support of this state interest requirement, but the panel confused extraterritoriality and dormant Commerce Clause standards in arriving at this conclusion and its analysis should be rejected by this Court. In any event, Appellants incorrectly claim that the purpose of Section 226 is to "see whether he or she is being fully paid no matter what law applies." Op. Br. at 29. To the contrary, Section 226's legislative history confirms that the law's purpose is to "strengthen enforcement of existing wage and hour standards." United's Req. for Jud. Notice ("RJN") Ex. A at 7; Morgan v. United Retail, Inc., 186 Cal. App. 4th 1136, 1148 (2010). That purpose is not served by applying Section 226 here, where Appellants are indisputably exempt from California's substantive laws governing the payment of wages, including overtime.

Exempting Section 226 from the job situs test would also lead to confusing results. Under Appellants' formulation, Section 226 would apply to employees who live in California and receive their wages and wage statements in California, but the underlying Labor Code provisions that would determine the accuracy of their wage statements would not apply. Conversely, employees who work principally in California but reside in and receive their wages in a state that has no wage statement law would not be entitled to the protections of Section 226. This outcome would lead only to employee confusion in direct contravention of the purpose behind Section 226. *Morgan*, 186 Cal. App. 4th at 1149.

Finally, even if this Court were to determine there is no extraterritoriality problem with applying Section 226 here, this Court should still hold that Section 226 does not apply to airline employees who regularly cross state lines because doing so would impose a "clearly excessive burden" on interstate commerce that violates the dormant Commerce Clause. See Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc., 397 U.S. 137, 142 (1970). Requiring United to comply with Section 226 would, by extension, also require it to comply with the wage statement laws of the fifty states. Contrary to Appellants' assertion, it is not true that compliance with Section 226 will ensure compliance with every other state's law. For example, the contents of a Section 226-compliant wage statement would be out of compliance in at least New York, Oregon, and Texas. Compare Cal. Lab. Code § 226 (requiring neither employer phone number nor employer signature) with N.Y. Lab. Law § 195(3) (requiring wage statement to include employer phone number), Or. Admin. R. 839-020-0012(1)(e) (same), and Tex. Lab. Code § 62.003(b) (requiring wage statement to include employer signature). Under the job situs test, to comply with the laws of the thirty-seven states, and the District of Columbia, that have wage statement laws, United would have to monitor the states where each of its

flight crew members flew to ensure that they either worked "principally" in only one state, or that they received a wage statement that complied with multiple states' laws. This exact type of administrative burden has been found to unduly burden interstate commerce in the airline industry, *Hirst I*, 2016 WL 2986978, at \*10; *Hirst v. SkyWest, Inc.*, 283 F. Supp. 3d 684, 698-99 (N.D. Ill. 2017) ("*Hirst II*"), and the same is true here.

Second, if this Court determines that California law applies, it should apply the RLA Exemption in Wage Order 9 to bar Appellants' claims because California law requires that wage orders and the Labor Code be read "as a single scheme of regulation." Collins, 105 Cal. App. 4th at 180. "To the extent a wage order and a statute overlap, [courts] will seek to harmonize them, as [they] would with any two statutes." Brinker Rest. Corp. v. Superior Court, 53 Cal. 4th 1004, 1027 (2012); see also Angeles v. US Airways, No. C 12-05860 CRB, 2017 WL 565006, at \*3 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 13, 2017). In conformity with this principle, California courts have applied exemptions in the wage orders to claims under the Labor Code. Collins, 105 Cal. App. 4th at 180-81; Angeles, 2017 WL 565006, at \*3-4; Dailey v. Just Energy Mktg. Corp., No. 14-cv-02012-HSG, 2015 WL 4498430, at \*5 (N.D. Cal. July 23, 2015). This Court should do the same, as confining the RLA Exemption to Wage Order 9 would impermissibly create separate and conflicting spheres of wage statement regulation. See Collins, 105 Cal. App. 4th at 180 n.4.

Additionally, substantial practical and policy reasons justify applying the RLA Exemption here. As Appellants acknowledge, "Wage Order 9 and Section 226 operate harmoniously together," and the wage statement requirements of Wage Order 9 Section 7(B) parallel those of Section 226. Op. Br. at 44-45. The similarity between the two laws reinforces the wisdom of treating them as a single scheme. In passing the RLA Exemption and specifically including wage statement requirements

within the scope of that exemption, the Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") made a sound determination that it would ease burdens on interstate transportation carriers—and be more beneficial to those carriers' employees—to deal with wage statement requirements through the collective bargaining process, rather than through state law. This reasoning is no less applicable to Section 226 than it is to Wage Order 9. It would make no sense to require United to comply with the clerical requirements of Section 226, particularly Sections 226(a)(2) and (a)(9), where it is undoubtedly exempt from the substantive overtime and other wage and hour requirements those provisions are designed to reinforce. RJN Ex. A at 7 (Section 226 "strengthen[s] enforcement of existing wage and hour standards"); *Morgan*, 186 Cal. App. 4th at 1148. Thus, should this Court determine that California law applies to Appellants, it should hold that the RLA Exemption bars their Section 226 claims.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE COURT SHOULD ANSWER "NO" TO THE FIRST CERTIFIED QUESTION
  - A. Employee Job Situs Determines Whether the California Labor Code, Including Section 226, May Apply to an Employee.

The overarching purpose of the California Labor Code is to promote the welfare of individuals who work in California. *See Tidewater*, 14 Cal. 4th at 577; *see also* Cal. Lab. Code § 1173 (tasking the Industrial Welfare Commission with ascertaining wages, hours, and conditions of employment for all employees "*in this state*") (emphasis added); Cal. Lab. Code § 1193.5 (authorizing the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement to investigate the wages, hours, and working conditions "of all employees employed in any occupation *in the state*") (emphasis added). Thus, employee residence has no bearing on whether California law applies,

Sullivan v. Oracle Corp., 662 F.3d 1265, 1271 (9th Cir. 2011) ("Sullivan II") ("California applies its Labor Code equally to work performed in California, whether that work is performed by California residents or by out-of-state residents"), nor does the state where a company is headquartered or where it makes decisions about the terms and conditions of employment. Cotter v. Lyft, Inc., 60 F. Supp. 3d 1059, 1062 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (relying on Sullivan I, 51 Cal. 4th 1191, to reject idea that the location of a company's headquarters or the state where decisions about the workers' employment status were made influenced application of California law). Rather, because the California Labor Code is concerned with the welfare of those who work in this state, California applies its labor code only to those employees who work exclusively, or principally, in the state. Tidewater, 14 Cal. 4th at 578 (explaining that a person must work "exclusively, or principally" in California in order to be considered a "wage earner of California"); Sarviss, 663 F. Supp. 2d at 900 ("[T]he determinative issue is whether an employee principally works in California.").

Relatively few decisions have addressed the extraterritorial application of California's wage and hour laws to employees who work primarily out of state. *See Vidrio v. United Airlines, Inc.*, No. CV15-7985 PSG (MRWx), 2017 WL 1034200, at \*3 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 15, 2017) (noting "the jurisprudence on the issue is sparse"). Those cases that have confronted the issue, however, have consistently focused on employee job situs as the determinative factor, as opposed to the parties' residence or the location of certain events giving rise to the alleged violation. *Priyanto*, 2009 WL 175739, at \*8 ("To summarize, since Plaintiffs' work is performed at sea, it is not within California, and is thus not protected by California wage law."); *Sarviss*, 663 F. Supp. 2d at 900-01 ("[B]ecause Sarviss indisputably spent the vast majority of his employment working

outside of California ...[,] the presumption against extraterritorial application of the wage orders has been left unrebutted.") (emphasis in original); Cotter, 60 F. Supp. 3d at 1062 ("California's wage and hour laws do not apply to work performed primarily outside of California."); Aguilar v. Zep Inc., No. 13-CV-00563-WHO, 2014 WL 4245988, at \*12 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 27, 2014) ("[T]he critical factor is where the work at issue is performed by the plaintiff.") (citations omitted). Since the district court's opinions in these cases, at least two other district courts in the Ninth Circuit have relied on employee job situs to determine that Section 226 did not apply to the claims of employees who regularly cross state lines. Oman v. Delta Airlines, Inc., No. 15-cv-00131-WHO, 2017 WL 66838, at \*6 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 6, 2017); Shook v. Indian River Transp. Co., No. CV 1:14-1415 WBS BAM, 2017 WL 633895, at \*6 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 15, 2017).

That result follows from this Court's decision in *Tidewater*, 14 Cal. 4th 557. *Tidewater* presented the question whether California's Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") Orders applied to California residents who worked for California employers on boats in the Santa Barbara channel. *Id.* at 561. After concluding, as a preliminary matter, that "California's territorial boundaries are relevant" to the scope of California wage and hour law, this Court determined that California law presumptively applies if

an employee resides in California, receives pay in California, and works exclusively, or principally, in California[.]

Id. at 578 (emphasis added). It was not disputed in *Tidewater* that the workers were California residents or received their pay in California. Thus, the *Tidewater* decision turned on whether the employees worked "exclusively, or principally, in California." Based on the facts of that case, this Court determined that the employees were entitled to the protections of the IWC Wage Orders because they worked exclusively "in California." *Id.* at 579.

Fifteen years later, in *Sullivan I*, this Court affirmed the importance of employee job situs in determining application of California wage and hour law by holding that California's overtime law applied to out-of-state residents who worked in California for days and weeks at a time. 51 Cal. 4th at 1205. Although the *Sullivan I* court confined its holding to the overtime context, *id.* at 1198-1200, the decision reaffirms that employee job situs—not the employee's state of residence or any other factors—determines whether an individual is entitled to the protections of California wage and hour law.

Tidewater and Sullivan I, moreover, apply a principle that has been generally accepted around the country for decades. Over forty years ago, the United States Supreme Court held that the "employees' predominant job situs," and not a "generalized weighing of factors," determined whether a Texas right-to-work law applied to employees who worked primarily outside Texas's borders. Oil, Chem., & Atomic Workers Int'l Union v. Mobil Oil Corp., 426 U.S. 407, 414 (1976). And numerous other states look to where an employee performs work to determine the scope of their wage and hour laws. Klig v. Deloitte LLP, 36 A.3d 785, 797-90 (Del. Ch. 2011); Panos v. Timco Engine Ctr., Inc., 197 N.C. App. 510, 517 (2009); O'Neill v. Mermaid Touring Inc., 968 F. Supp. 2d 572, 579 (S.D.N.Y. 2013).

Appellants do not dispute these principles as a general matter, but say that the rules that apply to most of the California Labor Code do *not* apply to wage statement claims, and instead argue that the Court should adopt for Section 226 a test that looks to the "focus" or "conduct" allegedly giving rise to Appellants' claims. Op. Br. at 25-27. None of the cases cited above has drawn this made-up distinction, and Appellants' argument is entirely meritless. Appellants instead rely on two cases involving the extraterritorial application of laws that have nothing to do with state labor

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